Global land and soil degradation: challenges to soil

Lindsay C. Stringer

Sustainability Research Institute, School of Earth and Environment, University of Leeds, Leeds, West Yorkshire, LS2 9JT, UK Tel: +44 (0)113 343 7530 Email: <u>I.stringer@leeds.ac.uk</u>

Table of contents

	Abstract	1
1.	Introduction	1
2.	Structures and processes framing land and soil degradation	3
	2.1 Water and wind erosion	5
	2.2 Chemical degradation	5
	2.3 Physical degradation	7
	2.4 Synthesis of land and soil degradation drivers	8
3.	Challenges in monitoring, measuring and assessing the status and trends of degradation	9
4.	Developing the legacy of a degradation neutral world for future generations: moving towards land and soil sustainability during Global Soil Week	12
5.	Conclusion	14
6.	References	15

Table of Figures

Figure 1: Classes of land and soil degradation and structures and processes that can	
combine to result in degradation	4

Table of Boxes

Box 1: Key discussion points and research questions to which Global Soil Week can	
contribute	15

Global land and soil degradation: challenges to soil

Abstract

This issue paper presents an overview of the current state-of-the-art scientific knowledge on land and soil degradation. It outlines a selection of the interactions between human and biophysical factors that can lead to different types of land and soil degradation, considering what this means for the continued provision of ecosystem services, in particular for those people most dependent upon the land for their livelihoods. It reviews the challenges in measuring land and soil degradation and identifying hotspots and bright spots; considers what these challenges mean for policymakers in interpreting information on the trends and dynamics of degradation; and reflects upon the steps necessary to move towards a world in which there is zero net land degradation. Throughout the paper, interdisciplinary examples and case studies from all over the world are used, demonstrating the multi-scale and coupled human-environment factors that can lead to land and soil degradation. The paper argues that a global approach to advance land and soil sustainability is urgently needed if the threat to sustainable development is to be reduced.

Keywords: monitoring and assessment; sustainable development; livelihoods; ecosystem services; land; soil; degradation, desertification

1. Introduction

Soil is considered one of the world's limited, non-renewable resources. Under cropland conditions, it takes between 200 and 1000 years for 2.5cm of topsoil to form (Piementel et al., 1995). The continued maintenance of fertile soil is essential in order to meet basic human needs. It underpins the provision of ecosystem services such as food production and climate regulation, and provides the basis of livelihoods for millions of people across the world (MA, 2005). Achieving the goal of land and soil sustainability requires an interdisciplinary approach, and provides an enormous challenge to policy makers, scientists and land users alike.

While land and soil resources are generally owned and managed at a local level, their condition is determined by the cumulative interactions of biophysical, social, economic and political structures and processes, operating across a range of spatial and temporal scales (Stringer et al., 2007). Biophysical factors such as climate, soil and hydrological patterns are superimposed with socio-political and economic structures and processes such as markets, technological changes, population demographic changes and human migration (UNEP,

1997). Some of these variables move slowly and operate over long time frames, while others are more rapid (Carpenter and Turner, 2000). The lived experience of land and soil degradation becomes apparent at the local scale (Warren, 2002), where it is experienced as a creeping phenomenon (Braimoh and Vlek, 2008), with the populations most acutely dependent on the natural resource base for their survival (often the poor and marginalised) being the most vulnerable to its effects (Stringer et al., 2009).

While the land and soil resource being degraded relates to national sovereignty concerns, the indirect impacts of degradation transcend village, district and national boundaries and affect food prices, food security and ecosystem service provision in downstream locations, far away from the site of degradation. This differs from environmental challenges that involve common property resources that naturally directly affect everybody (e.g. ozone depletion). However, these complex multi-scale linkages present a clear need to frame land and soil degradation as global issues that require international recognition – particularly in driving investment in funding, technology transfer and capacity building to tackle the land and soil challenge (Lambin et al., 2002) – and because continued land and soil degradation threatens our common food security. An international approach is further pertinent because land and soil degradation are thought to be increasing globally in both severity and extent (Bai et al., 2008) and cooperation across national borders is vital if conflicts over land, soil and associated resources such as water, are to be avoided. In the absence of the sustainable use and management of land and soil resources, global sustainable development and environmental sustainability are at risk.

This paper provides an overview of the current state-of-the-art knowledge on global land and soil degradation. It begins by noting the importance of environmental governance in delivering a sustainable land and soil legacy to future generations. It then explores four different types of land and soil degradation, drawing on examples from agriculture, forestry, mining, energy and water sectors, examining the interactions between different biophysical and socio-economic factors that can lead to degradation in the context of a globalised economy. Next, it examines the challenges associated with monitoring and assessing degradation and sustainable land and soil management, particularly in relation to developing effective, globally-appropriate approaches and indicators, reflecting upon the challenges associated with elucidating trends and dynamics. It argues that a global approach is needed to advance land and soil sustainability and explores recent efforts to promote a new Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) associated with zero net land degradation. The paper concludes by setting out key areas that need further attention from scientists and policymakers, to which Global Soil Week can usefully contribute.

2. Structures and processes framing land and soil degradation

The United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD) defines land as "the terrestrial bio-productive system that comprises soil, vegetation, other biota and the ecological and hydrological processes that operate within the system". Often, land degradation is the result of damage to, or loss of, the soil. The condition of the world's land and soil today is closely tied to their management under recent, as well as current, governance systems and environmental and climatic conditions. For example, during the Western colonial period, agricultural advisers in Africa promoted practices such as the burning or removal of crop residues from fields. Over time, this damaged the soil structure, caused organic matter and biota to decline, and ultimately, reduced productivity. At the same time, as commercial farming spread, colonial governments concentrated indigenous populations into reserves or homelands, often in areas where the soil or topography were less conducive to successful agricultural production. This forced migration meant that when independence was attained, the better arable land in most countries was largely farmed by an expatriate minority of commercial farmers (Fowler and Rockstrom, 2001), leaving the poorest and most natural resource-dependent populations in the areas least able to support their subsistence.

Similarly, in post-Socialist Europe and Central Asia, previously centralized governance systems played a role in shaping the quality of the land and soil resource of today. Under socialist ideologies, land was thought to have no intrinsic value but to serve human needs (Mazurski, 1991). This resulted in the widespread exhaustion, pollution and contamination of soil. For example, in 1970s Kazakhstan, massive state subsidies, inappropriate, inefficient irrigation, and the application of vast amounts of poor-quality pesticides and fertilisers, supported cotton and wheat production in areas largely unsuitable for these crops. The result of this was widespread soil and water contamination (Spoor, 1998). The pursuit of unrealistic, top-down production targets set by the centralised government caused huge environmental problems. People living in the Aral Sea region are still dealing with the impacts of past environmental governance approaches today (Scrieciu and Stringer, 2008).

Environmental governance and decision making in the past therefore shaped the land cover and land use patterns of the present. With the world's population of 7 billion people today and a projected population of 9 billion by 2050, all dependent on healthy land and soil for their food production, it is vital to critically reflect upon our attitudes today, if soil productivity is required to continue into the future. To move towards the goal of sustainable development requires our legacy to future generations to take the form of a sustainable, rather than a degraded, land and soil resource.

Land and soil degradation can take four main forms: 1) water erosion; 2) wind erosion; 3) chemical degradation; and 4) physical degradation (Oldeman et al., 1991) (Figure 1). Each form of land and soil degradation, occurring both individually and in combination with the other forms of degradation, can result in the loss or damage to key ecosystem functions and processes, including nutrient cycling, primary production, climate, disease and water regulation, and food, fuel and fibre provision (MA, 2005). Maintaining healthy land and soil is therefore vital to sustain food production. In the remainder of this section, each of the four forms of degradation is discussed, outlining their links to the broader structures and processes that act to couple human and environmental systems (Lebel et al., 2006), and which, through their interaction, can result in degradation.

Human factors past and present, e.g. policies and governance, political-economic processes across sectors (including globalised markets), land tenure, migration, technology, poverty, population and demographic change, cultural issues

Biophysical factors e.g. climate, hydrological processes, topography, and soil

STRUCTURES AND PROCESSES



Figure 1: Classes of land and soil degradation and structures and processes that can combine to result in degradation

2.1 Water and wind erosion

Water and wind erosion can be attributed to both natural biophysical and human causes. Erosion can remove the most fertile topsoil, causing soil productivity to decline. In locations where soil is shallow and land is sloping, such as in the Ethiopian highlands (Tamene and Vlek, 2007), this can lead to an irreversible loss of soil and hence land degradation. Often, increases in water and wind erosion result from land use changes that alter the land's vegetative cover, for example, when forests are converted to agricultural land. This can disrupt soil functions and the links between soil and other ecosystem components. For example, in China's Loess Plateau, extensive deforestation attributed largely to population increases over the past century, left the land surface bare. This led to problems associated with rill and gully erosion as the rain washed down the steep slopes, taking the soil with it (Zheng et al., 2005). This not only eroded the soil but caused the sedimentation of water courses (Feng et al., 2010). Under conditions of climate change, extreme events including heavy rainfall and drought are likely to become more commonplace in some locations, with important impacts on soil erosion. For example, recent droughts in the Horn of Africa caused people migrate to other, less affected areas, in order to access sufficient food and water. In locations in receipt of migrants, large-scale deforestation has taken place, driven by demand for charcoal. This has left the land exposed and prone to erosion (Terefe, 2012). Soil erosion is not however, only a developing world problem. In the croplands of the United States of America, post-harvest farming practices cause land cover changes, which play a key role in determining the extent of dust entrainment and wind erosion. Practices such as ploughing, mowing and levelling beds can all increase wind erosion and dust emissions, while the planting of windbreaks, use of cover crops and leaving plant residues in the field after harvesting can all reduce the risk of erosion (Nordstrom and Hotta, 2004).

2.2 Chemical degradation

Chemical degradation can encompass the loss of nutrients and organic matter, salinisation, acidification and pollution. Increasingly, global analyses are recognising that such less visible changes in soil properties are critical in affecting crop yields (Mueller et al., 2012) and that monitoring systems need to evolve to focus on key parameters such as soil organic carbon content and integrated nutrient management approaches. Nutrient and organic matter losses can have an important influence on the soil's structure, stability, water holding capacity, ecology and biodiversity.

Market demands for particular produce can lead to unsustainable land management practices, which can play an important role in affecting soil nutrients and organic matter content, particularly when the practices pursued fail to return nutrients to the soil. Intensive agriculture can lead to organic matter reductions of up to 50% following several decades of cropping (Zingore et al., 2007). For example, consumer demands for soy, coupled with the deregulation of several markets for agricultural goods and services, led Argentina to become the third largest soy producer in the world in the 1990s (Trigo et al., 2009). A global rise in soy prices caused the agricultural frontier to expand in order to keep up with production demands. This led to widespread deforestation of native woodland and land cover shifts that altered the role and function of soil. On farms where soybean cultivation followed the production of wheat or maize, practices involved burning the crop remains to clear the fields quickly and plant the soybean. This caused extensive losses of soil organic matter, undermining productivity to the extent that in the 1990s, soil degradation was estimated to have affected 60 percent of the farmland of Argentina's Carcaraña River basin (Trigo et al., 2009). At the same time, the expansion of soybean cultivation into new areas triggered controversy over land and property rights (Masuda and Goldsmith, 2009).

In some parts of the world, high levels of poverty can mean that land users cannot afford to purchase inputs such as fertilisers that typically replenish soil nutrients. For example, Vitousek et al. (2009) sampled the farms of 90 smallholders in the Siaya District of Kenya and found that the nitrogen inputs from the fertilizers they could afford to provide were less than the amount removed in grain and crop remains. In other cases, a lack of rural farm labour (due to rural-urban migration and health problems such as HIV-AIDS) has led to the collapse of traditional integrated (organic and inorganic) nutrient management approaches in which livestock manure, crop residues and household compost provide organic inputs to arable fields. In northern South Africa, Dougill et al. (2002) showed how such changes led to reliance on inorganic fertilisers, which resulted in the acidification of the region's sandy soil, to the extent that maize yields were significantly reduced and major remediation was required through lime and manure treatments.

For many rural poor, security of land tenure may be lacking to the extent that land users do not have sufficient incentive to invest in soil inputs. This is particularly so when insecure tenure results in an absence of attachment to a particular location; a common problem in countries where tenure uncertainties lead to the practice of shifting cultivation (Whiteside, 1998). Situations such as this can lead to a downward spiral of poverty and degradation (Quan and Toulmin, 2000), in which those most dependent on the land and soil for their subsistence end up degrading the soil further, precisely in order to survive over the short term.

Soil degradation through pollution and acidification can be local or diffuse. Diffuse pollution is caused by contaminants that are far from the source. One example of diffuse pollution are SO_x and NO_x emissions from industry and transport, which can cause soil acidification and threaten vegetation and water quality in locations away from the original emissions site, in some cases across national borders. Diffuse pollution is widely documented in the Sudbury region of Ontario, Canada, where mining and ore smelting has released more than 100 million tons of SO_2 over the past century, causing elevated concentrations of metal in the soil, acidification and damage to forests (Narendrula et al., 2012). Global demand for copper is continuing to drive price increases, compelling countries such as Zambia and the Democratic Republic of the Congo to construct huge copper mines to exploit their reserves of this resource. At the same time, mining activities have caused these countries to fall within the ten most polluted areas worldwide (Banza et al., 2009).

Salinisation occurs when the concentration of water soluble salts in the soil increases. This can happen due to natural processes, with salts being transported from saline geological deposits or groundwater, or due to human processes, particularly the use of inappropriate irrigation. The Mekong Delta region in Vietnam is one area where salinisation of vast expanses of land has taken place, largely due to saline intrusion and the irrigation of fields with saline water to enable shrimp farming. Soil salinisation has had important detrimental effects on rice production, as well as reducing drinking water availability (Minh, 2000). In Western Australia, abundant natural salts within the soil, combined with the clearance of native vegetation, has caused critical hydrological changes and extensive salinisation, with groundwater levels rising by more than 30 m. More than 1.8 million ha (9.4% of cleared farmland in Western Australia) is salt affected, imposing severe restrictions on productivity and, in some cases, has caused land abandonment (George et al., 1997).

2.3 Physical degradation

Physical degradation can include compaction, sealing/crusting, water logging and subsidence. Soil sealing is often a consequence of urban development and infrastructure construction, as the soil surface is covered with impervious materials such as concrete, plastics, glass and metal. The extent to which sealing takes place links closely to the type of

land use and the population density. Global population growth, migration and increasing rates of urbanisation throughout the world, suggest that sealing is a trend that will continue into the future. In Europe, around 9% of the total land area is covered by an impermeable material (Scalenghe and Marsan, 2009), while in the urban areas of Germany, 52% of the soil is sealed (EEA, 2006). This has knock-on effects for the role of soil in energy transfer and temperature regulation processes, water flows, and gas diffusion (including the propensity of soil to act as a carbon sink). It also affects the soil biota.

In agricultural areas, soil compaction due to the use of heavy machinery can alter its drainage and physical properties as a result of reduced soil porosity, which can subsequently restrict the movement of water and gases through the soil. For example, the advent of technologies such as the mouldboard plough in the United States in around 1850 set in motion a long-term trend that damaged the soil structure and increased the soil's susceptibility to crusting, compaction and erosion (Lal et al., 2007). Similarly, in pastoral areas, as grazing regimes have become less extensive and more sedentary due to policy restrictions and land tenure controls, soil compaction has ensued, together with other ecosystem changes such as lower pasture palatability, reduced infiltration and ultimately, land and soil degradation (Niamir-Fuller, 2005).

Loss of soil biodiversity cross-cuts many of the different types of land degradation as soil biota play a vital role in several ecosystem processes and functions, underpinning food and fibre production as well as helping to regulate the climate and purify water. The spatial distribution of soil biota, along with their heterogeneity, has an important influence on soil carbon turnover rates and trace gas production (Schmidt et al., 2010). In dryland areas, biological soil crusts form an integral biotic component and have a dominant influence over key functions such as carbon and nitrogen cycling, soil stabilisation and infiltration (Whitford, 2002). The IPCC (2007) notes that warming promotes a significant decrease in the richness and diversity of biological soil crust communities, accompanied by key shifts in species compositions. Such changes could reduce or even reverse the positive effects of these soil organisms on multiple ecosystem functions (Maestre et al., 2012).

2.4 Synthesis of land and soil degradation drivers

As shown in Figure 1 and demonstrated by the examples from around the world linked to each type of degradation, the propensity for land and soil to become degraded depends on the interaction of a number of biophysical and human factors. Human action operating across different economic sectors (agriculture, forestry, energy, mining and water), in combination with contextual biophysical environmental factors, can cause and exacerbate land and soil degradation. While global monitoring and assessment attempts have sought to measure how much degradation is taking place (see section 3), it remains difficult to quantify and qualify the exact combination of interacting factors that drive degradation.

There is an urgent need for more in-depth research that spans scales from the local to the national, regional and international, in order to further identify particular syndromes or pathways that result in a greater risk of degradation (Geist and Lambin, 2004) and the ways in which they can be mitigated into the future. In many of the cases outlined above, the costs of degradation are borne at the local scale by the poorest and most marginalised communities (Broad, 1994), and yet they are driven by broader scale political and economic processes. This presents a clear need for the total economic value of land and soil resources to be assessed and the external costs of degradation to be evaluated. This is particularly so in areas where land is communally managed, because unlike privately owned land, the use of an area by one person does not preclude its use by others. This can lead some land users to take more than their fair share (e.g. grazing an excessive number of cattle in a particular location), causing a 'tragedy of the commons' where inadequate institutional regulation is in place. At the same time, the discount rate to assess the present value of soil functions and services is too high, causing decision makers to support policies that fail to maximise benefits over the long term (OSLO, 2011). Short-term decision making at a range of scales can therefore be considered an additional cause of degradation.

3. Challenges in monitoring, measuring and assessing the status and trends of degradation

Despite the diverse forms that land and soil degradation can take and the range of different factors that combine to culminate in degradation, several attempts have been made to identify the current status and trends. Certain environmental and socio-economic conditions mean that some parts of the world are more vulnerable and at risk from land and soil degradation than others. Drylands (arid, semi-arid and dry subhumid areas) are one example of a hotspot where land and populations are particularly vulnerable, both at present and into the future (Middleton et al., 2011). Indeed, desertification (land degradation in drylands) has been ranked amongst the most urgent global environmental challenges (MA, 2005).

Estimates of the extent of land and soil degradation are varied, ranging from 0.6-1.2 billion ha of the world's drylands (MA, 2005), to 3.5 billion ha of degraded soil globally (Oldeman et al., 1991). Such varying figures make it highly challenging for: (a) scientists to communicate the magnitude of the degradation problem; and (b) policymakers and other stakeholders to know how urgently action needs to be taken. The outcomes of such assessments are further complicated, as they each use different assessment methods, measure different variables, and operate at different scales (both temporal and spatial), with some focusing on particular bounded systems such as drylands. This means that the outcomes from different assessments cannot be usefully compared. Despite these issues, in the context of other sustainable development challenges such as population growth, climate change, biodiversity loss, assessments nevertheless demonstrate that land and soil degradation is a key issue and that it is likely to worsen into the future unless timely action is taken.

The above measurement and comparability challenges notwithstanding, two notable assessment efforts since the 1990s are GLASOD and LADA/GLADA. GLASOD (the Global Assessment of Human-Induced Soil Degradation) provides a global map of soil degradation at a 1:10 000 000 scale (Oldeman et al., 1991), based largely on (somewhat subjective) expert opinions on the type, extent, degree, rate and causes of degradation (Oldeman and van Lynden, 2001). GLASOD considers four main causes: (i) agriculture; (ii) deforestation; (iii) overgrazing; and (iv) industrial pollution. Although this study was valuable because it raised awareness of the importance of land and soil, it is now rather outdated and soil degradation is thought to have worsened since 1991. GLASOD also did not test the links between degradation status and the social and economic impacts experienced (Sonneveld and Dent, 2009), and ignored the human structures and processes that drive the causes.

LADA (Land Degradation Assessment in Drylands) and GLADA (Global Assessment of Land Degradation and Improvement) represent more recent assessment efforts. These follow on from GLASOD across global, national and sub-national scales to identify the status and trends of land degradation in drylands, degradation hotspots and bright spots (both actual and potential) and find that 24% of the global land area has been degrading over the past 25 years. This contrasts with the 15% of degraded soil (not land) identified in GLASOD. However, interactions between the various variables that are monitored are not considered (Tengberg and Batt Torheim, 2007). Bai et al. (2008) suggest the need for the cautious use of GLADA results for a number of reasons. Importantly, the methodological approaches employed mean that GLADA finds it more difficult to identify degradation in arid areas

compared with more humid and temperate locations, possibly underestimating the extent of desertification.

More recently, the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MA, 2005) sought to systematise the conditions and trends of existing assessments with a view to showing how ecosystems can facilitate poverty reduction, evaluating a range of different responses. Within the MA, land and soil issues are considered through an ecosystem approach, which focuses on the status and trends of the ecosystem services that land and soil provide. The assessment concludes that >60% of ecosystem services have been degraded. However, it provides limited information on the specific status of soil. It nevertheless gives particular consideration to desertification. Drylands cover 41% of the planet's land area and are inhabited by more than 2 billion people (Middleton et al., 2011). The MA suggests with medium certainty that 10-20% of drylands are already degraded, with a much larger area under threat from desertification in the future. It suggests that desertification and ecosystem service degradation (including soil degradation) in drylands are a key threat to human development, particularly in the context of projected climatic changes.

Tracking trends in desertification, as well as land and soil degradation, and their links to different human and biophysical drivers is especially difficult (Eswaran et al., 2001), particularly if the information needs of stakeholders as diverse as policy makers, scientists, land managers and society at large are to be met (Vogt et al., 2011). The kind of authoritative and consensual assessments that are needed do not yet exist (UNCCD, 2011). Within the coupled human-ecological system, it is necessary to identify critical variables that target both human and ecological system components. Monitoring needs to draw on indicators that measure both 'slow' and 'fast' human and biophysical variables (Reynolds et al., 2011). This is likely to require a combination of both locally- and nationally-specific indicators across sectors, as well as internationally agreed, standardized global indicators. A meaningful baseline also needs to be identified, from which the status and trends in degradation can be assessed (Reed et al., 2011). A baseline and indicators need to be agreed upon and used, with appropriate monitoring and reporting systems established in order to track the direction of degradation. Decisions on these aspects need to take into consideration all necessary spatial scales and permit comparability (Vogt et al., 2011), linking tools and technologies such as remote sensing with participatory ground truthing. Initiatives such as Global Soil Week, the Global Soil Partnership and the UNCCD could play a key role in conveying the urgency with which indicators and baselines need to be established.

4. Developing the legacy of a degradation neutral world to future generations: moving towards land and soil sustainability during Global Soil Week

The ability to upscale to develop an effective global approach for monitoring, assessment and management of land and soil degradation is particularly pertinent in the context of global aspirations to move towards Zero Net Land Degradation (ZNLD). ZNLD efforts are being driven forward by the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD), the main objective of which is to address desertification, land degradation and mitigate the effects of drought. Through its ten-year strategic plan (2008-2018), the UNCCD also seeks to promote ecosystem functioning, improve the well-being of ecosystem users and generate global benefits.

The concept of a ZNLD world was initially discussed by the UN General Assembly in 2011 and is mentioned in the Changwon Initiative that emerged at the UNCCD COP 11, held in October 2011. The idea was formally launched within the framework of the Rio+20 Sustainable Development Conference held in 2012, during which, the international community discussed the kinds of policy targets that should follow the Millennium Development Goals, post-2015. The Rio+20 Outcome document (paragraph 206) 'recognizes the need for urgent action to reverse land degradation'. It further notes that, 'in view of this, we will strive to achieve a land degradation neutral world in the context of sustainable development'.

Articulation of a set of Sustainable Development Goals for post-2015 provides a valuable opportunity to concretely establish the goal of a ZNLD world within an international policy framework. Beyond agreement on the wording of the goal to determine what exactly a ZNLD world means, and the targets this demands, an institutional framework will need to be established (or entrusted to an existing mechanism), clearly outlining the roles and responsibilities of different stakeholders. Processes and mechanisms for measuring progress towards a ZNLD SDG will need to be established, paying particular attention to concepts such as leakage– where e.g. degradation avoided in one location is merely displaced to another place– which has caused difficulties in relation to other agreements like the UNFCCC. Related to leakage, clear baselines are required and need to be incorporated into any global level goal or agreement.

Issues such as how national progress towards such a goal can be monitored given the complex, multi-scale drivers of degradation; how degradation in one place may be

compensated by rehabilitation in another; how different time frames for the regenerative effects of rehabilitation measures to improve soil quality and health will be considered; and how degradation leakage can be avoided, all remain to be determined. Alternative policy options such as adding a protocol on global land and soil degradation to the UNCCD require careful, critical evaluation, alongside the ways in which this could interface with other advances such as the Global Soil Partnership and the work of scientific networks engaged in efforts to tackle the sustainability challenges linked to land and soil. Solving these challenges will require inputs from the scientific community, working across disciplines, as well as the political arena, working across sectors. Global Soil Week provides a useful platform from which to advance these discussions, helping to answer these questions and proposing important ways forward for the development of internationally agreed frameworks.

Achieving ZNLD at a global scale demands a combination of sustainable land use and land management practices (beyond the agricultural sector, including those linked to construction and industry). These need to prevent the occurrence of soil degradation in the first place, while rehabilitation and restoration strategies need to be enacted to bring already degraded land back into productive use. It requires attention to be paid to economic aspects, in particular, the identification of areas that should be prioritised for recovery and rehabilitation investments, as well as recognizing the costs associated with failure to pursue sustainable practices in degradation vulnerable hotspots such as drylands. This will mean balancing a range of different demands placed on the land and soil resource (e.g. food production, biodiversity conservation, carbon storage). It may require decisions to be made regarding land sparing versus land sharing - in which certain areas take priority in meeting basic demands for food (e.g. concentrating on high yielding practices in agricultural areas), while delineating and protecting other areas for different ecosystem service conservation and livelihood activities (Phalan et al., 2011; Green et al., 2005). Such approaches need to be developed through partnership and dialogue with other key multi-lateral environmental agreements, particularly the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), in order to harness synergy in meeting the goals of these conventions. Land restoration activities in drylands, one of the most vulnerable systems, could help to deliver synergistic benefits in practice. Indeed, the Cancun Agreements (decision 1/COP.16) consider why, where and how outcomes of the UNFCCC can benefit land and soil issues.

5. Conclusions and discussion points

This paper has demonstrated that land and soil degradation often result from the interplay of broad scale biophysical and political-economic processes (both past and present), including short-term decision making across a range of scales. However, the costs of land and soil degradation and its impacts often are experienced at the local level by the poorest and most marginalised communities. Despite disagreement over the exact extent and rate of land and soil degradation, state-of-the-art scientific assessments all share common ground in that they demonstrate degradation to be a key human development issue, in need of urgent attention if the situation is not to worsen into the future.

Given the urgency of action required to address global land and soil degradation, the need for political support and action is vital. The current international regime that addresses land and soil issues remains weak, invisible and fragmented. While the economic evaluation of costs and benefits associated with action and inaction is currently being made through initiatives such as the Economics of Land Degradation initiative, which seeks to place a figure on the social and economic costs facing countries as a result of degradation, land and soil need to be mainstreamed into local, national and international policymaking (Akhtar-Schuster et al., 2011). Trade-offs over long, medium and short-term periods need to be evaluated by policymakers in order to realise the importance of investments in healthy soil now and the wider markets that can be targeted by such investments (e.g. carbon markets – see Stringer et al., 2012; Dougill et al., 2012). Global Soil Week is well positioned to draw political attention to these challenges. It also provides a unique and valuable platform to engage in discussions across the science-policy interface to drive forward solutions. The questions presented in Box 1 provide a useful starting point for discussions.

- How can the combinations of factors that result in land and soil degradation acting across scales be better quantified and qualified?
- Which slow and fast variables need to be measured at different scales and across the coupled biophysical-human system in order to deliver authoritative and consensual assessment of global land and soil degradation and sustainability trends?
- What is zero net land degradation?
- What is a land degradation neutral world?
- What targets does it require?
- What kind of institutional framework does it demand?
- Who are the key stakeholders and what are their roles and responsibilities?
- How can we measure progress towards zero net land degradation?
- What are the costs and benefits associated with a zero net land degradation world?
- How can degradation leakage be avoided?
- How can national progress be monitored and measured in view of the multiscale factors that result in degradation?
- How can remediation measures be accounted for and valued when they deliver benefits over different time frames?
- Which areas should be prioritised for investment in remediation efforts?
- Beyond an SDG focused on zero net land degradation, what alternative and/or complementary policy options need to be considered?
- How can the concept of zero net land degradation harness synergy with the other Rio conventions and other (relevant) MEAs?

Box 1: Key discussion points and research questions to which Global Soil Week can

contribute

6. References

- Akhtar-Schuster M, Thomas RJ, Stringer LC, Chasek P, Seely MK. 2011. Improving the enabling environment to combat land degradation: institutional, financial, legal and science-policy challenges and solutions Land Degradation and Development 22(2): 299-312
- Bai ZG, Dent DL, Olsson L, Schaepman ME. 2008. Proxy global assessment of land degradation. Soil Use and Management 24: 223–234
- Banza CLN, Nawrot TS, Haufroid V, Decree S, De Putter T, Smolders E, Kabyla BI, Luboya ON, Ilunga AN, Mutombo AM, Nemery B. 2009. High human exposure to cobalt and other metals in Katanga, a mining area of the Democratic Republic of Congo. Environmental Research 109:745–752
- Braimoh AK, Vlek PLG. 2008. Impact of land use on soil resources, in Braimoh AK and Vlek PLG (Eds.). Land Use and Soil Resources. Dordrecht: Springer, pp.1-7
- Broad R. 1994. The poor and the environment, friends or foes? World Development 22 (6): 811-822
- Carpenter SR, Turner MG. 2000. Hares and tortoises: interactions of fast and slow variables in ecosystems. Ecosystems 3: 495–497
- Dougill AJ, Twyman C, Thomas DSG, Sporton D. 2002. Soil degradation assessment in mixed farming systems of southern Africa: use of nutrient balance studies for participatory degradation monitoring. The Geographical Journal 168(3): 195-210
- Dougill AJ, Stringer LC, Leventon J, Riddell M, Rueff H, Spracklen DV, Butt E. 2012. Lessons from community-based payment for ecosystem service schemes: from forests to rangelands. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B (Biological Sciences) 367: 3178-3190
- EEA (European Environment Agency). 2006. Urban Sprawl in Europe: The Ignored Challenge. EEA, Copenhagen, EU

- Eswaran H, Lal R, Reich PF. 2001. Land degradation: An overview. In Response to Land Degradation, Bridges EM, Penning de Vries FWT, Oldeman LR, Sombatpanit S, Scherr SJ, (Eds.). Science Publishers, Inc.: Enfield, NH; 20–35
- Feng X, Wang Y, Chen L, Fu B, Bai G. 2010. Modelling soil erosion and its response to land-use change in hilly catchments of the Chinese Loess Plateau. Geomorphology 118: 239–248
- Fowler R, Rockstrom J. 2001. Conservation tillage for sustainable agriculture: an agrarian revolution gathers momentum in Africa. Soil and Tillage Research 61: 93-107
- George R, Mcfarlane D, Nulsen B. 1997. Salinity threatens the viability of agriculture and ecosystems in Western Australia. Hydrogeology 5 (1): 6-21
- Green RE, Cornell SJ, Scharlemann JP, Balmford A. 2005. Farming and the fate of wild nature. Science 307(5709): 550-555
- Geist, HJ, Lambin EF. 2004. Dynamic causal patterns of desertification. BioScience 54: 817–829
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel for Climate Change). 2007. Climate Change 2007: synthesis report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (Eds. Core Writing Team, Pachauri R. K., Reisinger A.), pp. 104. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations
- Lal R, Reicosky DC, Hanson JD. 2007. Evolution of the plow over 10,000 years and the rationale for no-till farming. Soil and Tillage Research 93: 1–12
- Lambin EF, Chasek PS, Downing TE, Kerven C, Kleidon A, Leemans R, Ludeke M, Prince SD, Xue Y. 2002. The interplay between international and local processes affecting desertification. In: Reynolds JF and Stafford-Smith DM (Eds.). Global Desertification: Do Humans Cause Deserts? Dahlem University Press, Berlin.
- Lebel L, Anderies JM, Campbell B, Folke C, Hatfield-Dodds S, Hughes TP, Wilson J. 2006. Governance and the capacity to manage resilience in regional social-ecological systems. Ecology and Society 11, 19. Available at: <u>http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol11/iss1/art19/</u>
- MA. 2005. Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Island Press, Washington, DC, USA
- Maestre FT, Salguero-Gomez R, Quero JL. 2012. Introduction: It is getting hotter in here: determining and projecting the impacts of global environmental change on drylands. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B 367 3062-3075
- Masuda T, Goldsmith PD. 2009. World Soybean Production: Area Harvested, Yield, and Long-Term Projections. International Food and Agribusiness Management Review 12 (4) 143-162
- Mazurski, KR. 1991. Communism and the environment. Forum for Applied Research and Public Policy 5(4): 39–44
- Middleton N, Stringer LC, Goudie AS, Thomas DSG. 2011. The Forgotten Billion: MDG Achievement in the Drylands. UNDP, New York
- Minh LQ. 2000. Environmental Governance: A Mekong Delta case study with downstream perspectives. Can Tho University, Vietnam, 15 pp.
- Mueller ND, Gerber JS, Johnston M, Ray DK, Ramankutty N, Foley JA. 2012. Closing yield gaps through nutrient and water management. Nature 490: 254-257
- Narendrula R, Nkongolo KK, Beckett P. 2012. Comparative Soil Metal Analyses in Sudbury (Ontario, Canada) and Lubumbashi (Katanga, DR-Congo). Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 88:187–192
- Niamir-Fuller M. 2005. Managing mobility in African rangelands. In: Collective action and property rights for sustainable rangeland management pp.5-7
- Nordstrom KF, Hotta S. 2004. Wind erosion from cropland in the USA: a review of problems, solutions and prospects. Geoderma 121: 157–167
- Oldeman LR. 1994. The global extent of soil degradation. In: Soil Resilience and Sustainable Land Use, Greenland DJ, Szabolcs I (Eds.). CAB International: Wallingford; 99–118
- Oldeman LR, van Lynden GWJ. 2001. Linking methodologies for assessing land resources, their problems and possible solutions at small scales. In Response to Land Degradation, Bridges EM, Hannam ID, Oldeman LR, Penning de Vries FWT, Scherr SJ, Sombatpanit S (Eds.). Science Publishers: Enfield, NH, 225–236
- Oldeman LR, Hakkeling RTA, Sombroek WG. 1991. World Map of the Status of Human-Induced Soil Degradation: An Explanatory Note (2nd edition). International Soil Reference and Information Centre/United Nations Environment Programme: Wageningen, The Netherlands and Nairobi, Kenya

- OSLO 2011. Offering Sustainable Land-use Options. A multi-stakeholder initiative to unlock SLM investments by harnessing the potential of ecosystem services for green development. http://www.theoslo.net/
- Phalan B, Onial M, Balmford A, Green RE. 2011. Reconciling food production and biodiversity conservation: land sharing and land sparing compared. Science 333: 1289–1291
- Pimentel D, Harvey C, Resosudarmo P, Sinclair D, Kurz D, McNair M, Crist S, Shpritz L, Fitton L, Saffouri R, Blair R. 1995. Environmental and economic cost of soil erosion and conservation benefits. Science 267(24): 1117-1123

Quan J, Toulmin C. 2000. Evolving land rights: policy and land rights in Africa. DFID/IIED/NRI, London

- Reed MS, Buenemann M, Atlhopheng J, Akhtar-Schuster M, Bachmann F, Bastin G, Bigas H, Chanda R, Dougill AJ, Essahli W, Evely AC, Fleskens L, Geeson N, Glass JH, Hessel R, Holden J, Ioris AAR, Kruger B, Liniger HP, Mphinyane W, Nainggolan D, Perkins J, Raymond CM, Ritsema CJ, Schwilch G, Sebego R, Seely M, Stringer LC, Thomas R, Twomlow S, Verzandvoort S. 2011. Cross-scale monitoring and assessment of land degradation and sustainable land management: a methodological framework for knowledge management. Land Degradation and Development 22: 261–271
- Reynolds JF, Grainger A, Stafford Smith DM, Bastin G, Garcia-Barrios L, Fernandez RJ, Janssen MA, Jurgens N, Scholes RJ, Veldkamp A, Verstraete MM, von Maltitz G, Zdruli P. 2011. Scientific concepts for an integrated analysis of desertification. Land Degradation and Development 22: 166–183
- Scalenghe R, Marsan FA. 2009. The anthropogenic sealing of soils in urban areas. Landscape and Urban Planning 90: 1–10
- Schmidt MWI, Torn MS, Abiven S, Dittmar T, Guggenberger G, Janssens IA, Kleber M, Kogel-Knabner I, Lehmann J, Manning DAC, Nannipieri P, Rasse DP, Weiner S, Trumbore SE. 2011. Persistence of soil organic matter as an ecosystem property. Nature 478: 49–56
- Scrieciu SS, Stringer LC. 2008. The transformation of post-Communist societies in Central and Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union: an economic and ecological sustainability perspective, European Environment, 18: 168-185
- Sonneveld BGJS, Dent DL. 2009. How good is GLASOD? Journal of Environment 90: 274-283.
- Spoor M. 1998. The Aral Sea Basin Crisis: Transition and Environment in Former Soviet Central Asia. Development and Change 29(3): 409–435
- Stringer LC, Thomas DSG, Twyman C. 2007. From global politics to local land users: applying the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in Swaziland. Geographical Journal 173 (2):129-142
- Stringer LC, Dyer J, Reed MS, Dougill AJ, Twyman C, Mkwambisi DD. 2009. Adaptations to climate change, drought and desertification: insights to enhance policy in southern Africa. Environmental Science and Policy 12: 748-765
- Stringer LC, Dougill AJ, Thomas AD, Spracklen DV, Chesterman S, Ifejika Speranza C, Rueff H, Riddell M, Williams M, Beedy T, Abson D, Klintenberg, P, Syampungani S, Powell P, Palmer AR, Seely MK, Mkwambisi DD, Falcao M, Sitoe A, Ross S, Kopolo G. 2012. Challenges and opportunities in linking carbon sequestration, livelihoods and ecosystem service provision in drylands Environmental Science and Policy (19-20): 121-135
- Tamene, L, Vlek PLG. 2007. Assessing the potential of changing land use for reducing soil erosion and sediment yield of catchments: a case study in the highlands of northern Ethiopia. Soil Use and Management 23(1): 82-91
- Tengberg A, Batta Turkheim SI. 2007. The Role of Land Degradation in the Agriculture and Environment Nexus. In: Climate and Land Degradation (Eds. Sivakumar MVK and Ndiang'ui N). Dordrecht: Springer. Pp. 267-283
- Terefe HA. 2012. People in Crises: Tackling the Root Causes of Famine in the Horn of Africa. Discussion paper 2012-1. Norwegian Agricultural Economics Research Institute.
- Trigo E, Cap E, Malach V, Villarreal F. 2009. The case of zero-tillage technology in Argentina. IFPRI Discussion Paper. Washington D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute
- UNCCD. 2011. Land and soil in the context of a green economy for sustainable development, food security and poverty eradication. The Submission of the UNCCD Secretariat to the Preparatory Process for the Rio+ 20 Conference, Revised Version 18 November 2011 6pp.
- UNEP (United National Environment Programme). 1997. World Atlas of Desertification. Second edition: UNEP: Nairobi.

- Vitousek PM, Naylor R, Crews T, David MB, Drinkwater LE, Holland E, Johnes PJ, Katzenberger J, Martinelli LA, Matson PA, Nziguheba G, Ojima D, Palm CA, Robertson GP, Sanchez PA, Townsend AR, Zhang FS. 2009. Nutrient Imbalances in Agricultural Development. Science 324 1519-1520
- Vogt J, Safriel U, von Maltitz G, Sokona Y, Zougmore R, Bastin G, Hill J. 2011. Monitoring and assessment of land degradation and desertification: towards new conceptual and integrated approaches. Land Degradation and Development 22: 150–165
- Warren A. 2002. Land Degradation is Contextual. Land Degradation and Development 13: 449-459.
- Whiteside M. 1998. Living farms: encouraging sustainable smallholders in Southern Africa. Earthscan, London
- Whitford WG. 2002. Ecology of desert systems. London, UK: Academic Press
- Zheng F, He X, Gao X, Zhang C, Tang K. 2005. Effects of erosion patterns on nutrient loss following deforestation on the Loess Plateau of China. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 108: 85–97
- Zingore S, Murwira HK, Delve R, Giller KE. 2007. Influence of nutrient management strategies on variability of soil fertility, crop yields and nutrient balances on smallholder farms in Zimbabwe. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 119: 112-126